# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 30 19941

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 83,002

KENNETH M. TERRY,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA C. DAVIS
WHITED & DAVIS
220 S. Ridgewood Ave., #210
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 253-7865
Florida Bar No.: 410519
Attorney for Appellant

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 17, 1992 Kenneth M. Terry, was indicted on charges of First Degree Murder and Armed Robbery for a robbery and murder which occurred July 14, 1994 (R¹ 107-108). On November 16, 1993 the State filed a Direct Information on Principal to Aggravated Assault (R 790). This charge was consolidated with the murder charge for trial (R 797).

The State moved for samples of blood for DNA testing (R 116). Appellant responded to the motion for blood samples, and the motion was denied (R 117-130, R 134). The State filed an Amended Motion to Take Blood (R 359-360). Appellant responded (R 361-364). The amended motion was denied without prejudice after a hearing on April 27, 1993 (R 398, 924-944). The State filed a Second Amended Motion to Take Blood (R 504-505). This motion was granted after a hearing on July 26, 1993 (R 565, 1167-1235)<sup>2</sup>.

Appellant filed a Motion of Suggestion of Conflict alleging the Public Defender had a conflict of interest which precluded them from representing Demon Floyd, the co-defendant, through whom the State was expected to present adverse testimony (R 138-247). After

<sup>&</sup>quot;R" refers to record on appeal and runs from page 1 - 1337,
Volumes 1 through 8.

<sup>&</sup>quot;T" refers to transcript of trial and runs from page 1 - 2110, Volumes 10 through Volume 22.

The depositions in Volume 10 will be referred to by volume, the name of the deposition and page number.

<sup>&</sup>quot;SR" refers to the Supplemental Record. Depositions in the Supplemental Record will be referred to by volume, the name of the deposition and page number.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Fifth District Court of Appeal on this issue, Case No. 93-2038. (R 1236)

a hearing on February 1, 1993, and February 2, 1994, this motion was denied with a finding the Appellant did not have standing to raise the issue (R 318, 825-869). Appellant also filed a Motion in Limine regarding the testimony of Demon Floyd (R 442-444). This motion was taken under advisement (R 528) and later denied (R 547).

Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained through an Unlawful Search and Seizure (R 255-312). The basis of the motion was that the search of Appellant's home was based on a search warrant obtained through deliberately or recklessly false statements. The motion was heard March 1 and March 26, 1993, and denied (R 400-406, SR 14-88, R 876-917). Appellant moved for rehearing (R 475), which was denied (R 544). At the hearing, Valerie Floyd testified that she did not consent to the search of her apartment on July 28, 1992 (SR 2-19). Detective Ladwig had prepared the search warrant based on information received from Audrin Butler (SR 2-22). Detective Ladwig did not know Butler and had only used him in this investigation (SR 2-23). The only crime on which Butler had provided information previously was a homicide. The information had been provided on this homicide to Dave Damore (SR 2-24-26). Detective Ladwig did not know whether Butler had ever testified in the case (SR 2-27). The details of the crimes about which Butler reported had been released to the public (SR 2-Butler received a \$5,000.00 reward for the information regarding robberies (SR 2-46). Officer Wright did not know Butler, either (SR 2-81). Butler had been saving newspaper clippings and conducting his own investigation (SR 2-88). Audrin Butler

testified he had prior convictions (R 891). The trial judge found that the characterization of Butler (the informant) as a concerned citizen was not misleading or false, that the police did not have to establish Butler's reliability, and the failure of the search warrant affidavit to reveal the reward was not misleading or false (R 400-402). The trial judge found that Detective Ladwig's statements on the affidavit regarding knowledge of Butler were "at least" recklessly false and there was an error in the dates (R 403). However, the court found the information provided by Butler was not a "parroting" of information received from newspapers and other sources and the date did not render the search warrant defective; therefore, the erroneous statement could be set aside and the search warrant remain valid (R 404-406). At trial defense counsel objected to the admission of the items seized (T 1014, 1086).

Appellant filed a Motion to Compel Disclosure of the laboratory notes of FDLE analysts (R 395-397). The Motion was granted and the State ordered to provide the defense with copies of the laboratory notes of the FDLE analysts (R 399, 944). FDLE appeared through counsel and filed a Motion for Rehearing (R 480-481). Appellant moved to strike FDLE's motion for rehearing since FDLE was not a party to the cause (R 491-495). At a hearing on the Motion for Rehearing, the trial judge ruled the notes were not discoverable and sealed them in the record (R 1143). At trial, defense counsel objected when an FDLE expert referred to his notes (R 1390).

Appellant filed a Motion in Limine: Testimony Regarding Position of Victim Prior to Shooting which was granted as to Detective Ladwig and the Medical Examiner, Dr. Reeves (R 488-89, R 529, 1045). Due to Dr. Reeves' illness at the time of trial, Dr. Steiner was the acting Medical Examiner (T 904). Appellant later filed a Motion in Limine to prevent Dr. Steiner from testifying regarding the position of the body (R 570-571). At the hearing on the motion, defense counsel argued that the medical examiner who had a heart attack, could reach no conclusion nor could the FDLE analyst, yet Dr. Steiner simply reviewed Dr. Reeves' records and said he could reach a conclusion (R 1272-79). Neither Dr. Reeves nor Detective Ladwig could state conclusively whether the decedent was standing or kneeling (R 488-89). Dr. Steiner's testimony regarding the decedent's position at the time of the shooting was proffered (T 914-928). Dr. Steiner had reviewed Dr. Reeves' reports and the photographs of the crime scene. He admitted he was neither a blood spatter expert nor a ballistics expert (T 917). He "favored" the opinion Mrs. Franco was kneeling at the time she was shot; however, he could not be certain (T 922). Defense counsel arqued the testimony should be disallowed on the basis the witness was not qualified to give an opinion on this issue and it would unfairly prejudice the Appellant (T 937-938). The trial judge allowed the testimony (T 942).

The case was tried by jury November 29 to December 3 and December 9 to 17, 1993. During the trial, Detective Ladwig stated that Audrin Butler had provided information on several robberies in

which Appellant was a suspect (T 1137). Defense counsel objected. The objection was sustained. Counsel moved for a mistrial. The mistrial was denied (T 1142). Defense counsel moved to exclude the testimony of Demon Floyd (T 997). Floyd testified he was not involved in the robbery and his prior statements and deposition were incorrect (T 1005-1008). Floyd was impeached by the State with prior inconsistent statements he made to the police (T 1010-23) to two prosecutors (T 1024, 1041) and in a deposition (T 1029-1031, 1036-1040).

As the State's last witness, the prosecutor wanted to call David Damore to testify as to what Demon Floyd told the grand jury (T 1522). The State wanted to offer this testimony as substantive evidence (T 1528). Defense counsel objected on the basis of hearsay and using hearsay as substantive evidence (T 1531-1532). After argument the trial judge ruled the testimony could be presented as both impeachment and substantive evidence (T 1550-51). Defense counsel then offered to stipulate the evidence could be used as substantive evidence, without waiving the prior objection on which the court already ruled, if the State did not call Mr. Damore (T 1551-52). Additionally, Mr. Floyd had never testified regarding what he told the grand jury, so there was nothing to impeach (T 1555). Regarding Appellant's confrontation objection, the court ruled the State would have to call Demon Floyd, then Mr. Damore to impeach (T 1557). The State did not want to delay the trial, so they accepted defense counsel's prior offer to stipulate (T 1559). Mr. Damore did not testify.

The jury retired for deliberations, was sequestered overnight, and reached a verdict on all counts the next day (R 1902-1919). Appellant was convicted of (1) First Degree Murder with a Firearm, (2) Armed Robbery with a Firearm and (3) Principal to Aggravated Assault (R 582-583).

Appellant filed motions relating to the Penalty Phase of the trial, including Motion to Declare the Death Penalty and Florida Statute 922.10 Unconstitutional, Motion for Use of Special Verdict Form, and Motion to Prohibit Reference to the Advisory Role of the Jury (R 407-439), Motion to Compel State to Furnish Penalty Phase Witness List, Motion for Statement of Particulars of Aggravating Circumstances, Motion for Additional Peremptory Challenges, Motion for Individual Voir Dire, Motion Directing State to Advise Defendant if Death Penalty would be Sought, Motion to Sequester Jury (R 445-468). These motions were heard July 2, 1993 and orders entered (R 527-529, 552-556).

Appellant filed a motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(b) unconstitutional when applied to a contemporaneous violent felony and requested the jury not be instructed on this aggravating circumstance (R 624-627, R 628). This motion was heard before the penalty phase and denied (T 1932, 1940-1962, 1972). The trial judge proceeded to adjudicate Appellant on the Principal to Aggravated Assault charge which occurred contemporaneously with the murder (T 1962).

Appellant moved in limine to preclude the instruction on Section 921.141(5)(f), as this aggravating circumstance duplicated

the "committed during a robbery" instruction (R 662). The trial court denied this request based on <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992) (R 665) (T 1931, 1938, 1973).

The penalty phase was held December 14 - 17, 1993. Defense counsel was precluded from arguing the Appellant could be sentenced to life imprisonment on the non-capital offenses (T 1982). During the testimony of Valerie Floyd the prosecutor asked her what she thought the decedent's children called her (T 2017). Defense counsel objected, the objection was sustained, and motion for mistrial denied (T 2018-2019). The jury's recommendation for a death sentence was eight to four (8-4) (R 706). After receiving sentencing memoranda (R 719-739), the trial judge sentenced Appellant to death on December 23, 1993 and filed written findings (R 740-753). As aggravating circumstances, the Trial judge found the Appellant was previously convicted of a violent felony (the contemporaneous principal to aggravated assault conviction) which he gave "solid weight" and (2) the Appellant was engaged in a robbery and the murder was committed for pecuniary gain which he gave "strong weight" (T 748-750). The judge found the Appellant's age (21 years old) was not a mitigating circumstance (T 751). He noted there were four areas of nonstatutory mitigation: (1) emotional and developmental deprivation in adolescence; poverty; (3) good family man; and (4) circumstances of this crime do not set this murder apart from the norm of other murders (T The trial court summarily rejected each category finding 751). these factors were not nonstatutory mitigation (T 751-753).

rejecting (4) above, the judge found that since the other three factors were not mitigating circumstances and there were two aggravating circumstances, the Florida Supreme Court should review the death sentence for proportionality (T 753). On the armed robbery, Appellant was sentenced to nine years incarceration (three years mandatory) followed by twenty-one years probation consecutive to the sentence on the murder charge (R 754-765). On the Principal to Aggravated Assault, Appellant was sentenced to five years imprisonment concurrent to the sentence in the robbery charge (R 802-804). This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The only undisputed fact in this case was that Mrs. Joelle Franco died on July 14, 1992 from a bullet wound to the head. (T<sup>3</sup> 973).

The State presented testimony from Abel Franco, the decedent's husband, that on July 14, 1992 he was working at the Mobil Station on Volusia Avenue in Daytona Beach with his wife, Joelle Franco (T 824). Mrs. Franco was in the office part of the station and Mr. Franco was in the bay (T 825). Mr. Franco looked up when he heard a voice say "Don't move or I shoot" (T 826). A black man in a red mask was pointing a small silver gun at him (T 826). Mr. Franco heard a scream, then 30 seconds later a shot (T 831). A second man, who was not wearing a mask, came out of the office (T 832-34). Mr. Franco looked him in the face (T 832). The second man was approximately 6'2", in his 20's or 30's (R 834, 841). Mr. Franco was shown a photo line-up at which time he identified Sean Mayo (T 838, 1171, 1174, 1178). Mr. Franco also attended a live line-up on August 4, 1992 at which time he failed to identify anyone (R 55) (T 839). By the time of the live line-up Mr. Franco had been advised Appellant had been arrested for the shooting (T 1619). The photos made from the videotape of the live line-up showed that the Defendant's hair was different from the other participant's hair and he "stuck out like a sore thumb" (T 850-52, 1170).

Both Detective Beres and Officer Dorman, who arrived at the

<sup>&</sup>quot;T" refers to trial transcript, Volumes 6 to 22 which begin with Number 1. Please note reference to the pleadings are "R" which also begin with Number 1.

Mobil Station after the shooting, testified for the State. Officer Dorman and his canine attempted to track the suspects (T 855). The canine found a red ski mask on the east side of Jean Street (T 857-58). During the defense case, Debra Lightfoot, who was qualified as an expert in hair and fiber analysis testified the only hair in the red hat was Caucasian (T 1702). Detective Beres found a white knit cap with "Down with O.P.P." on the floor of the office (T 856). Debra Lightfoot later testified there was a Negroid hair in the hat, but the hair was not the Defendant's (T 1703-1704). Detective Beres found a \$10.00 bill and a green and white Foot Action bag on the floor of the office (T 879).

Demon Floyd was called as a state witness. He had plead to first degree murder and armed robbery in this case, but had not been sentenced (T 1003, 1045). He had requested to withdraw his plea several times but the Sate would bring up the death penalty (T 1046). He testified at trial that he was home on the night of July 14, 1992 and did not see the Defendant that night (T 1004). Audrin Butler had threatened to kill Demon's sister (Audrin Butler's wife) unless Demon confessed to the murder (T 1005-1007). Demon told the police he and Appellant committed the robbery; however, it was actually Audrin Butler and a man named Amp (T 1008-1011). Demon had previously told the law enforcement officers he wore a red knit hat and Appellant wore a white knit hat (T 1019). Demon told the officers he was in the garage with Mr. Franco and Appellant was in the office with Mrs. Franco (T 1019).

A search warrant was executed at the Defendant's house on July

28, 1992 (T 1090-98). Over objection, Detective Beres testified that he found a .38 caliber gun and purple wool cap inside a bag in the closet (T 1089-91). A .25 caliber gun was under the mattress (T 1093). The guns were processed for prints, but the bag was not (T 1101 - 02). Audrin Butler had given Appellant the Taurus gun prior to July 14, 1992 (T 1318). However, Terry testified he had given it back to Butler prior to July 14, 1992 (T 1603). Taurus was identified as having fired the fatal shot (T 1436). There were no identifiable prints on the gun (T 1386). "Buffalino" shoes Appellant was wearing when he was arrested on July 28, 1992 were sent to the crime lab (T 1120-21). were processed and three small spots of human blood identified (T 1444, 1667). A DNA analysis revealed the blood was consistent with that of Mrs. Franco and inconsistent with that of the Defendant (T 1463, 1502). A latent impression comparison with a footprint on a plastic bag in the Mobil Station office revealed the Buffalino shoes were consistent with the impression (T 1399). shoes could have made the impression (T 1685). The FDLE prints expert did not examine the shoes worn by Mrs. Franco (T 1691).

The State's other evidence was testimony from Joe Garca/Robin Morgan, a thirteen-time convicted felon under a twenty-five-year sentence, that Appellant said Mrs. Franco panicked and the gun just went off (T 1191, 1192, 1205). He also testified Demon Floyd told him they would not "burn" him since he did not pull the trigger (T 1199). Garca had used several aliases, and had testified for the State twice before in Volusia County (T 1216, 1217, 1232). Garca

had previously received a commutation of a sentence in Tennessee and had written the State Attorney in Daytona Beach requesting a modification of his Volusia County sentence (T 1218-23).

During his testimony regarding the cause of death, Dr. Steiner gave his opinion Mrs. Franco was kneeling at the time she was shot (T 964). In FDLE crime analyst Leroy Parker's opinion, there was no way to reach a scientifically reliable conclusion regarding the position of Mrs. Franco (T 1658-59).

During the defense case, Detective Ladwig testified there were fifteen suspects who had been cleared through alibi (T 1131-37). Audrin Butler was never investigated even though he had provided detailed information regarding the location of certain guns (T 1137, 1165). Butler received a \$5,000.00 reward for giving information (T 1619). In his fourteen years of experience in law enforcement, Detective Ladwig knew of instances where the person who reported the crime was the one who committed it (T 1619). Sean Mayo, who Mr. Franco had identified positively, was cleared when his mother and girlfriend said he was watching T.V. (T 1179-80).

Valerie Floyd, Appellant's girlfriend, testified he was at home watching T.V. the night of the shooting (T 1573). Audrin Butler, who was her brother-in-law, had access to the house and before the shooting would visit three or four times per week (T 1571, 1575). Audrin Butler was 6'2" and Appellant was 5'5" (T 1571, 1601). At the time of the shooting, Kenneth Terry had inter-

weaved hair (T 1577). Appellant testified he was home watching a Van Damme move the night of the shooting (T 1600-1601). Audrin Butler gave him the Taurus gun for a few days, then took it back (T 1603). The nurse who extracted hair from Appellant head in jail testified it was interwoven (T 1624). Charles Badger, who had examined the Buffalino shoes, found no blood on the bottom or sides of the shoes (T 1679-81). There was no blood on the Taurus gun (T 1664).

The State presented no testimony at the penalty phase, but rather relied on all previous evidence (T 1993). The appellant presented testimony from his aunt, Bonnie Hawsley, that he lived in Virginia until he was two to four years old (T 1994). He moved to Florida, and in 1981 or 1982 when Appellant was twelve to thirteen years old, his mother divorced, lost a child, and lost her job (T 1994). In 1985, Appellant's mother went to prison on drug-related charges (T 1995).

Appellant went to live with Ms. Hawsley in Maryland (T 1995-1996). Appellant was a very withdrawn child, but did well in school and had a job at a fast-food restaurant (T 1996). Ms. Hawsley was single (T 1996). Appellant's older brother, Eric, went to live with Ms. Hawsley's older sister, Myra, and Myra's husband, Bobby, because neither Myra nor Ms. Hawsley could afford to have both boys (T 1996, 2004). Myra and Bobby had two sons (T 1997). Appellant related well to Myra's family and his Uncle Bob was a

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Mr. Franco identified Sean Mayo from the photo line up. Mayo had close-cropped hair (T 1174).

role model (T 1997). Appellant appeared to be happy when he was with that family (T 1997). During the time Appellant lived with his mother, there were various men living with her off and on, but there was no stability (T 1997). Eric did well with Myra's family. He graduated from high school and joined the Navy. The difference between Eric and Appellant was that Eric had a father figure (T 1998).

Eight to nine months after Appellant went to live with Ms. Hawsley, he went back to Florida (T 2000). There were no family members in Florida, and she assumed he went to live with a family friend (T 2000). Appellant had been on his own since he was 15 years old (T 2001). Between the ages of 12 to 15, Appellant's environment changed and he became a product of his environment (T 2003). When Appellant moved back to Florida, he was a troubled child (T 2005).

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