FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 31 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

RENNETH M. TERRY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 83,002

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(T 943-44). The jury was returned to the courtroom, and Steiner was allowed to testify.

Terry now argues that the prejudice caused by Steiner's testimony outweighed any relevance it might have had and that Steiner was not qualified to give an opinion on the position of As the court stated, the position of a the victim when shot. victim's body is something that a medical examiner normally draws It is, therefore, relevant and admissible. conclusions about. The state did not dwell on Steiner's testimony, and it did not become a feature of the trial. Terry has not demonstrated how the medical examiner's opinion prejudiced the jury against him. The trial court did not commit reversible error by denying the motion in limine and allowing Dr. Steiner to express his opinion. Moreover, the medical examiner's testimony was relevant. this Court holds that the trial court should have restricted his testimony, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court also did not err in holding that Steiner did not have to be a blood-spatter expert to be able express his opinion. As this Court has previously held: "The trial court has broad discretion over the admissibility of expert testimony and its determination will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a clear showing of error." Way v. State, 496 So.2d 126, 127 (Fla. 1986); Ramirez v. State, 542 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1989); Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1051, 104 S.Ct. 1329, 79 L.Ed.2d 724 (1984). Terry has not made a clear showing of error.

The trial court held that a medical examiner would normally form an opinion on the position of a victim and that Dr. Steiner was qualified as a forensic pathologist. Steiner had been a forensic pathologist for almost twenty-four years. (T 903). The court correctly found that his experience enabled him to interpret the physical evidence.

This case is a far cry from cases such as Gilliam v. State, 514 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 1987), where a medical examiner slapped a colleague on the back with a sneaker and concluded that it made certain marks found on the victim's body. This Court properly held that conclusion to be neither reliable nor scientific. Id. at 1100. Instead, this case is more like cases such as Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986), and Dragon v. Grant, 429 So.2d 1329 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). In Johnston this Court agreed that a police officer who administered a luminal test to discover the presence of blood was qualified to testify through his working knowledge of the testing even though he was not an expert in the detection of blood. Similarly, in Dragon the district

court found that a police officer could testify about a car accident, even though not an accident-reconstruction expert, because his experience qualified him to form an opinion.

As did the trial court in this case, both <u>Johnston</u> and <u>Dragon</u> recognized that the jury ultimately determines the credibility of witnesses and that any deficiencies in a witness's testimony can be explored on cross-examination. Terry did just that. He questioned Dr. Steiner closely (T 964-71, 975-77, 978-79) and established that he was not a blood-spatter expert. (T 966).

Terry has failed, however, to show how the trial court committed any error, let alone reversible error, in allowing Dr. Steiner's testimony. Even if this Court were to find the court's rulings to be error, such error would be harmless because there is no indication that the testimony improperly influenced the jury.

ISSUE 5

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING A MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN A DEFENSE WITNESS MENTIONED THAT TERRY WAS A SUSPECT IN OTHER ARMED ROBBERIES.

In this issue Terry claims that the trial court should have granted his motion for mistrial when a defense witness mentioned that Terry was a suspect in several armed robberies. There is no merit to this issue.

Detective John Ladwig of the Daytona Beach Police 8 was the head detective in the this case. (T 1135).

At the time of the trial Ladwig had left the police department and was employed by the state attorney's office as an investigator. (T 1120).

Terry called him as a witness during the guilt phase and asked him about other suspects in the case. (T 1134-37). The following exchange then occurred:

Q [defense counsel] Do you know Audron Butler?

A Yes, I do.

Q And how do you know Audron Butler?

A Audron Butler provided information in several armed robberies that had been going on at that time, that developed Mr. Terry and Mr. Floyd as suspects in this case also.

(T 1137). At a side bar conference defense counsel objected to Ladwig's answer and stated: "Your Honor, at this time I not only object to his answer, and I realize it's in response to my question, but I move for a mistrial because it's tied Mr. Terry into a series of armed robberies." (T 1138). The prosecutor responded that, if the answer were error, it was invited error and stated that Ladwig "answered him in exactly the manner that Mr. Morgan knows Mr. Ladwig knows Audron Butler." (T 1138-39). Defense counsel stated that the answer surprised him. (T 1139). After listening to both sides, the court held:

Counsel, the issue is the reference to other collateral crimes, the armed robberies, and first of all, the record should clearly reflect that everyone was on notice as to this particular issue. I mean we have talked about it really before this trial started, about the potential pitfalls, and so issue was there for everybody, something else is that Investigator Ladwig was called in the defense case by Mr. Morgan and asked the question: How do you know Audron Butler? And the response was that Butler provided information in several armed robber[ies] that were going on in the area that developed Floyd and Mr. Terry as suspects here.

And I guess what I needed to do is to determine if that was a fair response to the question and whether or not Investigator

Ladwig intentionally tried to get something in front of this jury that he shouldn't have.

The conclusion that I reached, knowing about this case - we've all been through the pretrial motions. We know that the information employed by Mr. Butler was based on the armed robberies and the search warrant that eventually led to Mr. Floyd and Mr. Terry.

The long and the short of it is, it was, if error, defense invited error, and secondly, it was a fair response to the question asked, and based upon that, . . . the objection is overruled and I do not get to a cautionary instruction. Motion for Mistrial is denied on that basis.

(T 1140-42). After more discussion on whether Ladwig should be allowed to speak to defense counsel and the extent of direct examination (T 1142-45, 1161-64), the court reiterated its earlier ruling "that the question asked was invited error and, number two, that the response was a direct response to the question asked and it did not go beyond the question asked." (T 1163). All parties then agreed not to talk about any crimes other than those at issue in the trial. (T 1164). Thereafter, defense counsel continued with his direct examination of Ladwig.

Terry does not set out the facts concerning this issue and ignores the court's finding Ladwig's answer to be both invited error and a fair response to the question asked of him. Instead, he cites numerous cases that, while they may have been decided correctly on their facts, are distinguishable on the facts from the instant case. Terry does nothing more than recite general rules, without tying those rules to this case, and has failed to demonstrate error.

A motion for mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and should be granted only when necessary to insure a fair trial. E.g., Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 99 (1994); Power v. State, 605 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 1863, 123 L.Ed.2d 483 (1993); Sireci v. State, 587 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1500, 117 L.Ed.2d 639 (1992). Terry has demonstrated no abuse of discretion.

As this Court stated in <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983): "A party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal." The trial court correctly pointed out that everyone connected with this case knew that Terry and Floyd were suspects in other crimes. In spite of that, the defense elicited an answer, but then complained that the answer prejudiced Terry. The court properly found any error, if there were any because the court also found the answer to be a fair response, to have been invited. Terry has shown nothing to the contrary, and the trial court did not err in denying the motion for mistrial.

If, however, this Court decides that error occurred, it should find such error harmless. The erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence is subject to harmless-error analysis. Rhodes v. State, 638 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1994); Castro v. State, 547 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1989); State v. Lee, 531 So.2d 133, 136 (Fla. 1988); Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1988). Here, the single, slight reference to other crimes was ever mentioned again and did not become a feature of the trial. If any error actually occurred, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE 6

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING TERRY'S MOTION FOR SUGGESTION OF CONFLICT.

Terry filed a motion alleging that the public defender's office had a conflict of interest in its representation of his codefendant, Demon Floyd. The trial court held that Terry did not have standing to raise the issue of Floyd's representation and denied the motion. There is no merit to Terry's current claim that the court erred in denying the motion.

On November 24, 1992 Terry filed a motion suggesting that Floyd's counsel had a conflict of interest. According to Terry, after Floyd confessed, implicating Terry, and pled guilty, Floyd recanted and wanted to withdraw his plea. (R 142-43). Terry claimed that interference by the state attorney's office in the conduct of Floyd's case by his assistant public defenders reduced them to rendering ineffective assistance. (R 147-50). Terry also argued that he had standing to raise Floyd's claim because he would be injured if Floyd testified against him and because he was a "next friend" of Floyd. (R 151-53). The court heard the motion on February 1 and 2, 1993. (R 822, 863).

Prior to Terry's opening statement on the motion, the prosecutor objected that Terry had no standing to raise the issue. (R 825). The court asked for case law on why a third party is able to raise someone else's conflict of interest and ineffective assistance claims. (R 826-28). Terry could provide none (R 828), and the court pointed out that Floyd was competent, that Terry was not dedicated to Floyd's best interest, and that he was not a next friend. (R 830-31). After hearing more

argument (R 831-46), the court again expressed its doubts about the claims, but decided to proceed with the hearing. (R 846-47). Terry had four witnesses present - assistant public defenders Ray Cass, Don Jacobson, and Larry Powers and Detective Ladwig. 852). After discussion about attorney-client privilege (R 853-59), Floyd refused to waive the privilege. (R 858). then continued the hearing until the following day so that it could consider the standing issue. (R 859-60). When the hearing reconvened on February 2, 1993, the trial court denied the motion and stated: "I know of not a single case that has dealt with this situation. But I've considered the arguments. And the hurdle that I cannot get over is a standing hurdle. I do not - I simply don't find that Mr. Terry has the standing to raise ineffective assistance in Mr. Floyd's case under any theory that the defense has suggested." (R 867). Terry renewed his suggestion of conflict when Floyd was called to testify. (T 997-98).

Terry argues that the court erred in denying the instant motion, but has failed to demonstrate that he had standing to raise claims for Floyd and, thus, that the court erred. Terry relies on Volk v. State, 436 So.2d 1064 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), Whitmore v. Arkansas, 495 U.S. 149, 110 S.Ct. 1717, 109 L.Ed.2d 135 (1990), and the comment to Rule Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.7, but that reliance is misplaced. Volk held that an assistant public defender, as well as the elected public defender, can certify a conflict of interest where public defenders in the same circuit are appointed to represent codefendants who have adverse interests. Rule 4-1.7(a) provides: "A lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation of that client will be

directly adverse to the interests of another client." According to the comment, rule 4-1.7(a) means that "a lawyer ordinarily may not act as advocate against a person the lawyer represents in some other matter, even if it is wholly unrelated." In the instant case the public defender's office represented Floyd, while Terry had appointed counsel. It is obvious that <u>Volk</u> and rule 4-1.7 are factually distinguishable from the instant case and that neither supports Terry's argument.

Whitmore also offers no support for Terry's argument. The United States Supreme Court held that Whitmore, an inmate on Arkansas' death row, did not have standing as a next friend to prevent the execution of another death row inmate. To establish next-friend status,

one "must provide an adequate explanation - such as inaccessibility, mental incompetence, or other disability - why the real party in interest cannot appear on his own behalf." Moreover, a next friend has the burden "to establish the propriety of his status and thereby justify the jurisdiction of the court."

<u>Durocher v. State</u>, 623 So.2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1993) (quoting Whitmore, 495 U.S. at 163, 164). Terry did not and cannot meet this standard.

Terry did not demonstrate to the trial court that he had standing to raise Floyd's personal claims, and his current argument suffers from the same failure. The trial court did not err in denying the suggestion of conflict, and this Court should hold this issue to have no merit.

ISSUE 7

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING TERRY'S MOTION TO EXCLUDE DEMON FLOYD'S TESTIMONY.

Terry filed a motion seeking to keep his codefendant Demon Floyd from testifying as a state witness. The trial court denied the motion, and Terry now complains that the court erred in doing so. This issue, however, has not been preserved for appeal.

On April 26, 1993 Terry filed a motion in limine asking the court to prohibit the state from calling Demon Floyd as a witness. (R 442). Terry claimed that, because he had made several inconsistent statements and because he might be mentally impaired, Floyd's testimony would be unreliable and unduly prejudicial. (R 442-44). The court heard the motion on July 2, 1993. (R 1028).

Terry argued that Floyd's counsel wanted to have Floyd examined by a mental health expert because counsel thought that Floyd had "severe emotional problems" and that until Floyd's competency was determined his testimony would be "inherently unreliable." (R 1029). Terry agreed with the court that mental or emotional problems do not necessarily equal incompetency. (R 1029). The prosecutor argued that the motion was both unfounded and premature. (R 1030). The judge then deferred ruling on the motion, but stated he was leaning toward denying it and that Floyd's competency would be relevant only when he took the stand. (R 1031). The court denied the motion on July 8, 1993. (R 547).

The state called Floyd as a witness on the second day of trial. (T 996). Terry renewed his suggestion of conflict (issue 6 supra) and asked that Floyd's testimony be excluded on the

basis of that suggestion and argued that he had standing to raise the issue. (T 997-98). The court stated its ruling would remain the same. (T 998). On direct examination Floyd admitted that he pled guilty to first-degree murder and armed robbery in exchange for the state's not seeking the death penalty, but then stated that he had nothing to do with the robbery and murder at the Mobil station. (T 1003-04). The state then impeached Floyd through his prior statements and deposition. (T 1006-44).

When Floyd took the stand, Terry moved to suppress his testimony based on his suggestion of conflict, not on his motion to exclude Floyd's testimony of April 26, 1993. To be cognizable on appeal, the same argument must be presented to the appellate court that is presented to the trial court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Because Terry did not challenge Floyd's testimony on the basis presented to the trial court in his April 1993 motion, unreliability and incompetency, he did not preserve this issue for appeal, and it is procedurally barred. Additionally, Terry never claimed, by objection or otherwise, that the state called Floyd only to impeach his testimony.

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